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ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REFPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Councit
Town of Clayton
Clayton, Delaware

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Delaware,
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2016, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Town's basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controt relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responmbll:ty is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant toé_ the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectivenass of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We belisve that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Clayton, Delaware, as of December 31, 2016, and the
respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, for the year then ended in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
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To the Honorable Mayor and Town Council
Town of Clayton

Report On Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s December 31, 2015, financial statements, and
we expressed unmodified opinions on the respective financial position of the governmental activities, the
business-lype activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information in our report dated
March 21, 2016. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the
year ended December 31, 2015, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements
from which it has been derived.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 3 through 9 and 42 be presented to
supplement the basic financial staterments. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential
part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other
knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or
provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s basic financial statements. The combining nonmajor fund financial
statements are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used fo prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining nonmajor fund financial statements
are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated July 24, 2017, on
our consideration of the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests
of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other
matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial
reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on intermal control over
financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with
Government Auditing Standards in considering the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.
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TOWN OF CLAYTON
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited
December 31, 2016

This discussion and analysis of the Town of Clayton, Delaware (the “Town™) provides an overview of the
Town’s financial performance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. Please read it in conjunction with
the Town's financial statements which begin on page 10.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The assets of the Town exceeded its liabilities at December 31, 2016, by $7.2 million {net position}. Of this
amount, $522 thousand (unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the Town’s ongoing obligations to its
citizens and creditors. The Town’s total net position increased by $530 thousand. The current year increase
in the Town’s net position is due primarily to an increase in the electric fund charges. Also, property tax rates
increased from $0.65 per $100 of assessed value to $0.75 per $100 of assessed value during 2016.

As of December 31, 2016, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $4.5
million, an increase of $567 thousand as compared to the prior year. The current year increase in fund
balance can be attributed to intergovernmental grants received during the current year.

As of December 31, 2018, the Town’s proprietary funds reported a combined net position of $2.7 million,
which was the same when compared to the prior year. Electric biling rates remained the same for 2016.
Flectric rates were $11.94 for the first 45 kw and $0.1404 per kw thereafter. Sewer billing rates for the first
2,000 gallons remained the same as the prior year at $16.50 but had an increase in each additional 1,000
galions from $5.00 to $6.00. Water billing rates remained the same as the prior year at $9.50 for 2,000
gallons with each additional 1,000 gallons for $4.00.

Overview Of The Financial Statements

The financial statements consist of three parts — management’s discussion and analysis, the basic financial
statements and required supplementary information. This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an
introduction to the Town of Clayton’s basic financial statements. The Town of Clayton’s basic financial
statements are comprised of three components: 1) entity-wide financial statements; 2) fund financial
statements; and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary
information in addition to the basic financial statements.

The basic financial statements include two kinds of statements that present different views of the Town:

» The first two statements are entity-wide financial statements that provide both long-term and short-term
information about the Town’s overall financial status.

» The remaining statements are fund financial statements that focus on individual parts of the Town
government, reporting the Town’s operations in more detail than the entity-wide statements.

The financial statements also include notes that explain some of the information in the financial statements
and provide more detailed data. The statements are followed by a section of required supplementary
information that further explains and supports the information in the financial statements.



TOWN OF CLAYTON
Management’s Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited (cont'd)
December 31, 2016

Entity-Wide Financial Statements. The entity-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers
with a2 broad overview of the Town's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. These
statements are prepared using the accrual basis of accounting.

The statement of net position presents information on all of the Town's assets and liabilities, with the
difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may
serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Town is improving or deteriorating.

The statement of activities presents information showing how the Tow's net position changed during the most
recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the
change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in
this statement for some items that will result in cash flows only in future fiscal periods.

Both of the entity-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the Town that are principally supported by
taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are intended to
recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges (business-type activities). The
governmental acfivities of the Town include general government, public safety, public works, and licensing and
inspection. Business-type activities consist of the Town’s electric distribution system and water supply and
sewage collection system.

Fund Financial Statements. Traditional readers of government financial statements will find the fund
financial statement presentation more farniliar where the focus is on the Town’s most significant funds. A fund
is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for
specific activities or objectives. The Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate fiscal
accountability. The Town uses governmental and proprietary fund financial statements to provide more
detailed information about the Town's most significant funds rather than the Town as a whole.

Governmental Funds. Most of the Town's basic services are reported in governmental funds, which focus
on how money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year end that are available for
spending. These funds are reported using the modified accrual accounting method, which measures cash
and all other financial assets that can be readily converted to cash. The governmental fund statements
provide a detailed short-term view of the Town’s general government operations and the basic services it
provides. Governmental fund information helps the reader determine whether there are more or fewer
financial resources that can be spent in the near future to finance the Town’s programs. The relationship (or
differences) between governmental activities (reported in the Statements of Net Position and Activities) and
governmental funds is described in a reconciliation.

Proprietary Funds. Proprietary funds are used to account for operations that are financed and operated in a
manner similar to private business enterprises in which costs are recovered primarily through user charges.
Proprietary fund financial statements, like entity-wide financial statements, provide both long and short-term
financial information. The fund financial statements provide more detail and additional information, such as
cash flows, for the Town's proprietary funds. The proprietary funds are used to report the same functions
presented as business-type activities in the entity-wide financial statements. The Town uses proprietary funds
to account for its electric distribution system and water supply and sewage collection system. The Town
purchases 100 percent of its electric supply requirements from the Delaware Municipal Electric Corporation
{(“DEMEC"} under a long-term full reguirements service contract. In addition, the Town is charged a fee by the
Town of Smyrna and Kent County to discharge the Town’s proportionate share of wastewater into their
respective facilities under an operating contract.



TOWN OF CLAYTON
Management's Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited {cont'd)
December 31, 2016

Notes To The Basic Financial Statements. The notes to the basic financial statements provide additional
information that is essential to a full understanding of the data provided in the entity-wide and fund financial
statements.

Required Supplementary Information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying
notes, this report presents certain required supplementary information concerning the Town. A budgetary
comparison schedule has been provided for the General Fund.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN AS A WHOLE

Entity-Wide Financial Analysis

The following table presents a summary of the Statement of Net Position for the Town as of December 31,

2016, and 2015:

Table 1 — Condensed Statement Of Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Totals
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015

ASSETS
Current and other assets $ 4048249 § 3494646 $ 897229 § 960,725 § 4945478 4,455,371
Capital assets, net and

noncurrent assefs 1,399,645 1,458,807 2,840,416 2,817,925 4,240,061 4,276,732
TOTAL ASSETS 5,447,884 4,853,453 3,737,645 3,778,650 9,185,639 8,732,103
DEFERRED QUTFLOWS

OF RESOQURCES 247,930 137,882 -0- <0 247 930 137,882
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities 520,913 651,430 430,909 409,883 951,822 1,061,313
Noncurrent iabilities 621,187 358,698 629,852 654,911 1,251,039 1,013,609
TOTAL LIABILITIES 1,142,100 1,010,128 1,060,761 1,064,794 2,202,861 2,074,922
DEFERRED INFLOWS

OF RESOURCES 59,649 154,143 -0- -0- 59,649 154,143
NET POSITION
Invested in capital assets,

net of related debt 1,379,822 1,324,504 2,276,606 2,214,869 3,656,428 3,539,373
Restricted 2,992,637 2,727,4N1 - -0- 2,992 637 2,727,491
Unrestricted (deficit) 121,616 {124,931} 400,278 498,987 521,894 374,056
TOTAL NET POSITION $ 4494075 $ 3927064 $ 2676884 § 271385 § 7,170,959 6,640,920

Invested in capital assets, net of related debt decreased as a result of depreciation expense exceeding capital
additions for the year. The largest portion of the Town’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets,
less any related debt used to acquire those assets that are still cutstanding. Capital assets are used o provide
services to residents and are not available for future spending. Although the investment in capital assets is
reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided
from other sources, since the capital assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
Resfricted net position increased due to the accumulation of resources restricted to public works projects and
future growth initiatives.
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TOWN OF CLAYTON
Management's Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited (cont'd)
December 31, 2016

Table 2 — Changes In Net Position

Govemmental Activities Business-Type Aclivities Totals
2016 2015 2016 2015 2016 2015
REVENUES
Program revenues:
Charges for services % 657616 § 562,809 §$ 3,861,141 % 3555544 % 4518757 § 4,118,443
Operating grants and
confributions 198,023 217,817 -0- -0- 198,023 217.817
Capital grants and
contributions 210,521 -0- -0- -0- 210,521 -0-
General revenues:
Taxes 659,232 559,329 -0- -0- 659,232 559,329
Franchise fees 50,160 45,557 ~0- -0- 53,160 45,557
Investment earnings 11,326 1,126 -0- 52 11,326 1,178
Miscellaneous 77 3,959 -0- Q- 77 3,959
Transfers/Contributions 1,061,951 785,223 -0- -0- 1,061,951 785,223
TOTAL REVENUES 2,849,600 2,175,910 3,861,141 3,555,596 6,710,741 5,731,506
EXPENSES
General government 582,422 477,936 -0- 0- 582,422 477,936
Public safety 1,169,846 947,451 -0- -0- 1,169,946 947,451
Public works 491,327 512,536 -0- 0- 491,327 512,536
Licensing and inspection 38,894 32,182 -0- -0- 38,894 32,182
Electric operations -0- -0- 2,060,293 1,954,118 2,060,293 1,954,118
Water/Sewer operations -0- -0- 775,869 775,873 775,869 775,873
Transfers -0- -0- 1,061,951 785,223 1,061,951 785,223
TOTAL EXPENSES 2,282,589 1,970,105 3,898,113 3,515,214 6,180,702 5,485,319
INCREASE (DECREASE)
IN NET POSITION 567,011 205,805 {36,972) 40,382 530,039 246,187
NET POSITION,
BEGINNING OF YEAR 3.927.064 3,721,259 2,713.856 2,673,474 6,640,920 6,304,733
NET POSITION,
END OF YEAR $ 4494075 $ 3927064 % 2676884 §$ 2713856 $ 7170959 § €,640.920

Governmental Activities

The cost of all governmental activiies in 2016 was $2.3 million. The amount that taxpayers ultimately
financed for these activities through Town taxes was $659 thousand, or 29 percent. Other costs were paid by
those who directly benefited from the programs ($658 thousand, or 29 percent) or by government agencies
and organizations that subsidized funding with intergovernmental aid and contributions ($1.5 million, or 67
percent).

Charges for services remained consistent with prior year in building permit and impact fees which can be
atiributed to the continued development within Town limits. Increases in taxes relate primarily to an increase
in property taxes from the prior year in the amount of $60 thousand and transfer taxes from the prior year in
the amount of $40 thousand. The increase in property taxes is due to the increase in the assessed value from
$0.65 to $0.75 per $100 of assessed value, and transfer taxes is due to an increase in development within
Town limits.



TOWN OF CLAYTON
Management's Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited (cont'd)
December 31, 2016

As indicated by the governmental program expenses, general government programs accounted for 26 percent
of the Town’s governmental activities and remained consistent with prior year amounts. Public safety
expenses accounted for 50 percent of the Town’s governrental activities, public works expenses accounted
for 22 percent, and licensing and inspection expenses accounted for 2 percent, all consistent with prior year
amounts.

Business-Type Activities And Proprietary Funds

Charges for services represent the principal revenue source for the Town's business-type activities and
proprietary funds were $3.9 million which was an increase of approximately 306 thousand due fo an increase
in electric charges and water and sewer charges. The overall expenses of the business-type activities
increased by approximately 4 percent. Expense increases are due to an increase in electric purchased.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN’S FUNDS

The Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal
requirements.

Governmental Funds

The focus of the Town's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, outflows and
balances of spendable resources. Such information is valuable in assessing the Town's financing
requirements. In particular, the unreserved fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.

As of December 31, 2016, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of $3.5
mitlion, which is an increase of approximately $673 from the prior year. The increase is due to increases in
taxes of approximately $100 thousand, intergovermmental funding of approximately $200 thousand, and a
decrease of approximately $235 in capital outlays. Approximately 92 percent, or $3.3 million, constitutes fund
balance reserved for special purposes, leaving an unassigned portion of fund balance of $270 thousand.

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Town. As of December 31, 2016, the total of the General
Fund was approximately $766 thousand, of which $270 thousand is unreserved and undesignated, $245
thousand has been designated by the Town to fund future costs for post-employment benefits, $81 thousand
has been reserved for future public safety costs, $187 thousand has been reserved for future public works
costs, and $23 thousand has been reserved for inventory and prepaid costs. The fund balance increased by
$480 thousand during the year ended December 31, 2016.

The other major fund of the Town is the Impact Fees Fund which is used to accumulate resources for future
growth initiatives as mandated by law.

Significant changes in revenues and expenditures for the governmental funds are consistent with the prior
analysis of the governmental activities revenues and expenses. Other financing sources consisted of
transfers from the proprietary funds to subsidize the government’s primary governmental aperations.



TOWN OF CLAYTON
Management's Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited (cont’d)
December 31, 2016

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS

The schedule comparing the Town's budget and actual results can be found on page 42. There were no
amendments to the original budget. A summary of significant variations between budget amounts and actual
results are as follows:

- Transfer tax revenue was $136 thousand more than budget due to the timing of the completion of
development projects and the sale of the associated properties.

- Charges for services revenue were $55 thousand more than budget due to increased permits and
trash fees collected.

- Intergovernmental revenues were $161 thousand more than budget due to additional grant funding.
- Fines and forfeits revenues were $28 thousand less than budget due to less fines issued.

- General government expenses were over budget by $36 thousand due tc an increase in bad daebt
expenses and donations.

- Public safety expenses were over budget by $35 thousand due to an increase in salaries,
maintenance, and equipment for the public safety department.

CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION

Capital Assets

The Town’s capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of December 31, 2016,
amounted to $4.2 million, net of accumutated depreciation. Capital assets include land, building and
improvements, improvements other than buildings, machinery and equipment, vehicles, and infrastructure.
Current year additions of $291 thousand exceeded depreciation expense of $248 thousand.

More detailed information about the Town's capital assets is presented in the notes to the basic financial
statements.

Debt Administration
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Town paid approximately $39 thousand to bring the total debt
to approximately $564 thousand through the Delaware Department of Natural Resources and Environmental

Control to finance the Town'’s water treatment facilities.

More detailed information about the Town's long-term liabilities is presented in the notes to the basic financial
statements.



TOWN OF CLAYTON
Management's Discussion and Analysis — Unaudited (cont'd)
December 31, 2016

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGET AND RATES

The primary economic factor affecting the budget for the Town of Clayton is the residential housing market.
Industrial and commercial activities are minimal. Impact fees imposed upon new residential construction
support infrastructure improvements. Permit fees and fransfer taxes support the operations of Public Works
and Administrative department operations, respectively.

Rates for taxes and fees for services will remain consistent in 2017 in relation to 2016.
REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION
This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, customers, investors, and creditors with a general

overview of the Town'’s finances. If you have questions about this report or need any additional information,
please contact the Town of Clayton, 414 Main Street, P. Q. Box 1130, Clayton, Delaware 19938-1130.



ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivaients
Investments
Taxes receivable
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Due from other fund
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets:
Net pension asset
Capital assets, net
Total Noncurrent Assets
TOTAL ASSETS

TOWN OF CLAYTON
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2016
(With Summarized Comparative Data for December 31, 2015)

DEFERRED QUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred contributions and changes in

proportion related to pension activity

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
LIABILITIES:
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Due to other fund
Impact fee escrows
Accrued salaries and benefits
Accrued interest
Loan payable
Accrued compensated absences
Utility deposits
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Accrued compensated absences
Net pension liability
Post-employment henefits
Loan payable
Total Noncurrent Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred investment earnings related to

pensicn activity

NET POSITION

Invested in capital assets, net
of related debt

Unrestricted

Restricted for police

Restricted for public works

Restricted for future growth initiatives

TOTAL NET PCSITION

Governmental Business-Type Totals
Activities Activities 20186 2015 *

$ 3,452,312 $ 693,569 4,145,881 § 3,576,042
131,667 -0- 131,667 120,352
16,462 -0- 16,462 21,358
13,211 137,640 150,851 123,673
57,321 -0- 57,321 36,017
6,370 54 577 60,947 70,442
37,244 4,738 41,982 42,938
333,662 6,705 340,367 464,549
4,048,249 897,229 4,945,478 4,455,371
-0- -0- -0- 79,440
1,399,645 2,840,416 4,240,061 4,197,292
1,399,645 2,840,416 4,240,061 4,276,732
5,447,894 3,737,645 9,185,539 8,732,103
247,930 -0- 247,930 137,882
11,551 211,326 222 877 242,986
340,367 -0- 340,367 464,549
72,725 -0- 72725 41,227
32,917 9,229 42,146 33,595
-0- 6,376 6,376 7.688
19,823 40,321 60,144 74,286
43,530 16,572 60,102 55,682
-0- 147,085 147,085 141,300
520,913 430,909 951,822 1,061,313
77,582 24,858 102,440 95,762
204,439 -0- 204,439 -0-
339,166 81,505 420,671 334,214
-0- 523,489 523,489 583,633
621,187 629,852 1,251,039 1,013,609
1,142,100 1,060,761 2,202,861 2,074,922
59,649 -0- 59,649 154,143
1,379,822 2,276,606 3,656,428 3,639,373
121,616 400,278 521,894 374,056
81,658 -0- 81,558 73,376
187,332 -0- 187,332 104,778
2,723,747 -0- 2,723,747 2,549,337
$ 4,494,075 $ 2,676,884 7,170,959 $ 6,640,920

* Restated for comparative purposes.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
-10-



I_‘Fi

‘sjuswiele)s [epueull esay) Jo Hed jeibeiul ue ale sejou BulAuedwodoe sy

‘'sesodind saneledwod 10y polelsay

026'0+9'98  656'0LL'L % ¥88'0/9'2% S0'v6hY HYIA 40 ANT ‘NOILISOd L3N
£€LVBED 0Z6'079'9 9G8'eLL'T ¥O0°226'E HYAA 40 ONINNIDIAE ‘NOILLISOd 13N
i8L'oFe 820'08S {z26°08) LLO 288 NOILISOd 13N NI IONYHD
£Z0'019 68122 {166'190°)) ovr'ess’L SHIJSNVYHL ANV SINNIATY TvHINIO TWLOL
-0- -0~ (166719071) 186'L90'} SHIASNYHL
656'C LLL -0- L4 SNoBUR||SISIN
811 9ze'LL -0- 9ze'L L 80U JUBLUISaAL
186Gy 09105 -0- 091'08 $98] 8sIyoue.l]
L5602 929'092 -0- 9Z9'092 saxe] Jejsuel] 9121sa |esy
8/£'8EE 909°'86¢ -0- 209'86¢ soxe) 9jeIse |eay
ANNIATY TYHINTD
(9€£8'€9¢) (ost'LBl) 667201 {8zt'oLZ'L) Lzs'olLz £Z0'86) $  I5L'8LSY § LGLBLIG S
£55'6Z8 6.6 720 L 626720 L Q- -0- -0- L7 198°C Z91'988°C
$59'ZE 8/0'%01 8.0't0L -0- -0- -0- I96'6.8 69R8'G//
668°26. L06'026 L06'0Z6 -0- -0- -0- P6L1L96'E £62'090°C
(6gc’asl’'l)  {ezr'olz'l) -0- (6er'oLz'}) 1Z6°0LE £20'861 919'/69 6952822
0.6'C SPY0L -0~ S¥F 0L -0~ -0~ 6EE 6Y ¥69'8¢
(AR G14°292 -0- §12'202 12501z 86Z' LY €22 108 2ZE' L6}
(z0g'869) {oL8'0Z6) -0- (018'0Z6) -0- gZ2'961 Liv'26 or6'691 L
(zev'eor) ¢ {(Bi2'2i8) ¢ O $ (622'249) -0- -0- $ cro's $ zZzr'zes ¢
» GLOZ 910z
se1o|

L0800 18N Ul sebueys pue anusasy (asuadxg) 1eN

SenusAsy wWeJBold

(510Z ‘)& Jequieseq pepul Jee, oy} 10} eleg eApeiedw o) pezuewwng Yy

9102 ‘1€ YAGWIDIA IANT AVIA THL ¥Od

SIAILIALLOV 4O LNIWALVLS
NOLAVTO 40 NMOL

INFANYIAOD AdVYWIEd V101

SAILIAILOY FdAL-SSANISNG TVLOL
JoMOgGLSIEM

SALLIAILOY AdAL-SSEINISNE

SAILIALLDY TVLINIWNYIAOD TYLOL
uoipoedsul pue Buisuad

SHJIOM 21j1aNd

fyajes algng

uawuIeAoh jeisusny

S3ILIALLDY TY.INTNNATAOD



IN _\I
‘sjuslIBIB)S [elouUELl asey jo Led [eifeiul ue aue sajou Buikuedwoooe sy

‘sasodind saneredwod 1oy psieysay |,

LLg'i68'e $ LB0'0ES'E $ |86'0F $  LpL'EELT 3 696'G9. $ S3IONVYIVE ANNd TYLOL
622'82 7€8'2 -0 -0 7£8'7¢ _®|qepusdsuon
LEE'BYS'E LPL'ETL'T -0- I71'€22'2 -0- SOAJIUL YWMouB inin) Jo} pelollsey
81701 zeL I8l ryet -0- 088°05L s30m 21|and so} pajollsey
9/e'¢L 865°18 BES'Y -0- 6102 ao110d Joj pejpL)sey
862'612 162'GYT -0- -0- L8Z'ere syfeuag Juawioduws-isod
110 PORILILIOD
(z02'211) L£6'692 -0 -0 2£6'692 peubisseun
'SADNVYIVE ANNA
86212 oF'9l -0- -0~ Z9%'0l S3DHNOSIH 40 SMOTANI A3FHHEI430 VIOL
BGE'lC 29v'91 -0 -0- zZo¥'ol sexe} Apedoid — enueas) @(gejieAsUN
$IADHNOSTY O SMOTINI d3dx3 434
LIV'G19 060105 965'g STL'TL 608'zeY S3AILNIgYIT Tv.LOL
6VSror LOE°0FE 96g'g -0~ L L8'VEE Spuny Jay3o 0} ang
891°6E oes'er -0- -0- 0eg'er S20USSqEe Pajesuadilod PaniodY
vel'oe 218'ze -0- -0- Ll6Ze sjjausq pue sslie|es paniody
FrAALN TANA) -0~ sgL'es -0- SMOL088 B8] 10edu|
66€ 'Y LGS L1 -0- -0- [Rei=a N slgeded sjUNODY
1S31LITHavI
SIAONVYIVE ANNA ANV S3iLITavit
OF9'v6T'S 6¥Z'8F0'F 1E5'0F Tir'98.'2 (Al : S13ISSVY TVIOL
90L'vey Z99'SEE -0~ 901'8¢¢ 968'sg spunj Jsylo Wok eng
015'se vre'le -0~ -0 2 AR sasuadxe pledsid
128'9 0.€'9 -0- -0~ 0.g'9 Aiojusau
Lio'ee 12€°LG -0- -0- 1Ze'ls ’ $9|(BAI9281 JBUID
£€92l LLZ'El -0- -0- Lz'el 8lUeAls08d SJUNOODY
8gele Zor'9l -0- -0- Zor'ol 9|qeAl80a) saxe]
zZse0zl £99°L€L -0 -0- L99°LEL SJUBLLISBAL|
€61PER'T $ Zle'zsr'e $ 188'9y $  99E'89¥'Z $ 60P'2E6 $ siuB|EAINDES YSED pUB ysey
S13ssvy
» GLOZ 810z spung pung pung
|ejusluLlIsAls) S804 «omaF: [elauacy
JolewuoN
sjejol

(5102 '1L.¢ Joquiadaq 10} Bjeq eAjjeIedwon pazZeLIWNG WIAA)
910z ‘L€ ¥3gW303a
SANN4 TVINIWNYIAOD — 133HS JONVYIvd
NOLAVID 40 NMOL



TOWN OF CLAYTON
RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET — GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2016

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES $ 3,530,697

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds. 1,399,645

Some of the Town’s assets are not available soon enough to pay for current
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds. 16,462

Some assets and liabilities, including loans payable and net pension benefits
{obligations), that are not due and payable in the current pericd and, therefore,
are not reported in the funds.

Loans payable $( 19,823)
Net pensicn asset (liability) (204,439)
Post-employment benefits (339,166) (563,428)

Expenses accrued for compensated absences reported in the statement of
activities that do not require the use of current financial resources are not
reported as expenditures in the governmental funds. (77,582)

Deferred outflows and inflows or resources related to pension activity are
applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension activity of $397,951
consists of $344,362 of deferred outflows of resources pension expense and
$53,589 of deferred outflow of 2016 employer contributions related fo the

pension. 397,951
Deferred inflows of resources related to pension activity. {209,670)
NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES $ 4,494,075

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF CLAYTON

RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN

FUND BALANCES — GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

NET CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES — TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities, the cost of those assets is alloccated over their estimated
useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays
($132,503) exceeds depreciation ($112,225).

Because some property taxes will not be collected for several months after the
Town’s fiscal year ends, they are not considered as “available” revenues in the
governmental furids. Deferred tax revenues decreased by this amount this year.

The issuance of iong-term debt (e.g. loans payable) provide current financial
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term
debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither
transaction, however, has any effect on net position.

Under the moedified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental funds,
expenditures are not recognized for the transactions that are not normally paid with
expendable available financial resources. In the statement of activities, however,
which is presented on the accrual basis, expenses and liabilities are reported
regardless of when financial resources are available. In addition, assets are not
recognized in governmental funds unless they represent current financiat resources
but are recognized in the statement of activities as they accrue. The following
differences, therefore, occurred between the statement of activities and the
governmental funds.

Compensated absences $( 6,592)
Accrued interest 914
Net OPEB obligation (71,282)

Governmental funds report Town pension contributions as expenditures. However, in
the statement of activities, the cost of pension benefits earned net of employee
contributions is reported as pension expense.

Town pension contributions — fiscal year 2016 $ 53,589
Cost of the benefits earned net of contributions
[pension expense] {(132,926)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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672,886

20,278

(4,896)

35,040

(76,960)

(79,337)

$

567,011




ASSETS
Current Assets:

TOWN OF CLAYTON
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2016
(with Summarize<d Comparative Data for December 31, 2015)

Cash and cash equivalents $

Accounts receivable

Inventory

Prepaid expenses
Due from other funds

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital assets, net

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable

Accrued salaries and benefits

Accrued interest

Loan payable

Accrued compensated absences

Utility deposits

Totai Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities:

Accrued compensated absences
Post-employment benefits

Loan payable

Total Noncurrent Liabilities
TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION

Invested in capital assets, net of

related debt

Unrestricted {Deficit)
TOTAL NET POSITION

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION  §

Water
Electric And Sewer Totals

Fund Fund 2016 2015 *
693,567 2 $ 693,569 $ 741,849
111,006 26,634 137,640 111,040
39,009 15,668 54 577 63,571
1,579 3,159 4,738 4,422
6,705 -0- 6,705 39,843
851,866 45 363 897,229 960,725
1,079,382 1,761,034 2,840,416 2,817,925
$ 1,931,248 $ 1,806,397 $ 3,737,645 $ 3,778,650
$ 148,526 $ 62,800 $ 211,326 $ 198,587
3,076 6,153 9,229 7,461
-0- 6,376 6,376 8,775
-0- 40,321 40,321 39,246
5,524 11,048 16,572 16,514
147 085 ~(- 147,085 141,300
304,211 126,698 430,909 409,883
8,286 16,572 24,858 24,771
27,168 54,337 81,505 66,330
-0- 523,489 523,489 563,810
35,454 594,398 629,852 654,911
339,665 721,096 1,060,761 1,064,794
1,079,382 1,197,224 2,276,606 2,214,869
512,201 {111,923) 400,278 498,987
1,591,583 1,085,301 2,676,884 2,713,856
1,931,248 $ 1,806,397 $ 3,737,645 $ 3,778,650

* Restated for comparative purposes.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(With Summarized Comparative Data for the Year Ended December 31, 2015)

OPERATING REVENUES

User service charges

Other operating revenue
Total Operating Revenue

OPERATING EXPENSES
Electric purchased
Litility tax
Sewer charges
System upgrades and maintenance
Salaries and wages
Employee benefits
Depreciation
Supplies
Administration expenses
Professional services

Total Operating Expenses

OPERATING INCOME

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)

Interest income
Interest expense

Total Nonoperating Revenues (Expenses)

INCOME BEFORE TRANSFERS
AND CONTRIBUTIONS

Transfers out

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

NET PCSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

* Restated for comparative purposes.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

TOWN OF CLAYTON
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION — PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

Water Totals
Electric and Sewer
Fund Fund 2016 2015~
$ 2,903,499 839,447 $ 3,742,946 $ 3441121
77,695 40,500 118,195 114,423
2,981,194 879,947 3,861,141 3,555,544
1,713,737 -0- 1,713,737 1,702,876
8,489 -0- 8,489 15,007
-0- 278,509 278,509 306,826
126,757 127,008 253,765 143,033
84,383 168,766 253,149 245,646
24,318 48,632 72,950 42,403
54,192 82,027 136,219 134,381
4,193 46,997 51,190 57,964
4,490 7,047 11,537 15,001
39,734 1,144 40,878 50,162
2,060,293 760,130 2,820,423 2,713,299
920,901 119,817 1,040,718 842,245
-0- -0- -0- 52
-0~ (15,739) (15,739) (16,692)
-0- (15,739) (15,739) {16.,640)
920,901 104,078 1,024,979 825,605
(973,396) (88,555) {1,061,951) {785,223)
{52,495) 15,523 (36,972) 40,382
1,644,078 1,069,778 2,713,856 2,673,474
$ 1,591,583 1,085,301 $ 2,676,884 $ 2,713,856
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TOWN OF CLAYTON
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS — PROPRIETARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016
{With Summarized Comparative Data for the Year Ended December 31, 2015)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Received from customers
Paid to suppliers for goods and services
Paid to employees for services

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM NONCAPITAL FINANCING
ACTIVITIES:
Due from other funds
Transfers out
NET CASH USED BY NONCAPITAL FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition and construction of capital assets
Loan payment
Interest paid
NET CASH USED BY CAPITAL AND RELATED
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Interest income
NET CASH PROVIDED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE {DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING
OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

* Restated for comparative purposes.

Water Totals
Electric and Sewer
Fund Fund 2016 2015 *

$ 2,963,403 $ 876,923 $ 3,840,326 $ 3,549,758
(1,866,775) {469,597) (2,336,372) (2,292,170)
(103,111) {206,216) (309,327) (305,900)
993,517 201,110 1,194,627 951,688
33,138 -0- 33,138 (32,431)
{973,396) {88,555) {1,061,951) (785,223)
{940,258) {88,555) (1,028,813) (817,654)
{101,539) (67,170} (158,709) -0-
-0- (39,246) (39,246) (38,201)
-0- (16,139) (16,139) (17,186)
{101,539) {112,555} (214,094) (55,387)

~0- -0- -0- 52

-0- -0- -0- 52

(48,280) -0- (48,280) 78,699
741,847 2 741,849 663,150

§ 693,567 $ 2 $ 693,569 $ 741,849

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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TOWN OF CLAYTON

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS — PROPRIETARY FUNDS, CONTINUED

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

{With Summarized Comparative Data for the Year Ended December 31, 2015)

Water Totals
Electric and Sewer
Fund Fund 2016 2015*
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Operating income $ 920,901 $ 119,817 $ 1,040,718 $ 842245
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 54,192 82,027 136,219 134,382
Changes in assets and fliabilities: .
{Increase} Decrease in accounts receivable (23,576) (3,024) (26,600) (11,976)
{Increase) Decrease in inventory 18,104 (9,110) 8,994 7,244
{Increase) Decrease in prepaid expenses (105) {211) (316) (1,288)
Increase {Decrease) in accounts payable 12,521 218 12,739 (8,545)
Increase {Decrease) in accrued salaries and
benefits 589 1,179 1,768 (1,625)
Increase (Decrease) in compensated absences 48 97 145 5,525
Increase {Decrease) in utility deposits 5,785 -0- 5,785 6,120
Increase (Decrease) in post-employment benefits 5,058 10,117 15,175 {20,464)
NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES $ 993517 § 201,110 $ 1,194,627 § 951,688

* Restated for comparative purposes.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Town of Clayton complies with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP”). GAAP
includes all relevant Governmental Accounting Standards Board ("“GASB”) pronouncements.
The accounting and reporting framework and the more significant accounting policies are
discussed in subsequent subsections of this Note.

Financial Reporting Entity

The Town of Clayton, Delaware (the “Town™) was incorporated in 1887 under the provisions of
the State of Delaware. The Town operates under a Council form of government and provides
the following services as authorized by its charter: public safety, public works, utilities, licensing
and inspection, and general government.

The Government Accounting Standards Board established the criteria for determining the
activities, organizations and functions of government to be included in the financial statements of
the reporting entity. GASB Statement No. 61, “The Financial Reporting Entity: Omnibus,”
established the freatment of component units within the financial statements. The criteria used
in determining whether such organizations should be included in the Town’s financial reporting
entity are financial interdependences, selection of governing authority, designation of
management, ability to significantly influence operations, accountability for fiscal matters, scope
of public service and special financing relationships.

The Town has determined that no other cutside agency meets the above criteria and; therefore,
no other agency has been included as a component unit in the Town’s financial statements. In
addition, the Town is not aware of any entity which would exercise such oversight which would
result in the Town being considered a component unit of the entity.

Entity-Wide And Fund Financial Statements

The entity-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of
changes in net position) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the Town.
Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and inter-governmental
revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent
on fees and charges for support.

The statement of activities demonstfrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to
customers who purchase, use or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a
function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the
operational or capital requirements of a function or segment. Taxes and other items not property
included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major
individual governmental funds and major individual proprietary funds are reported as separate
columns in the fund financial statements. All remaining governmental funds are aggregated and
reported as nonmajor funds.

-20-



NOTE 1

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {cont'd)

Measurement Focus, Basis Of Accounting And Financial Statement Presentation

The entity-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses
are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.
Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for which they are levied. Grants and
similar items (nonexchange transactions} are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility
requirements imposed by the provider have been satisfied.

The entity-wide financial statements report net position in one of three components. Invested in
capital assets, net of related debt consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation and
reduced by the outstanding balances of borrowing atiributable to acquiring, constructing or
improving those assets. Net position are reported as restricted when constraints placed on net
position use are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants),
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of cther governments or imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Those restrictions affect net position arising
from special revenue and capital funds. Unrestricted net position consist of net position that do
not meet the definition of “invested in capital assets, net of related debt” or “restricted.”

Except for interfund activity and balances between the funds that underie governmental
activities and the funds that underlie business-{ype activities, which are reported as fransfers
and internal balances, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements.

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as
soon as they become both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available
if they are collected within the current period or scon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the
current period. For this purpose, the Town considers property tax revenue to be available if
collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal period. Revenue from federal, state and other
grants designated for payment of specific Town expenditures is recognized when the related
expenditures are incurred; accordingly, when such funds are received, they are reported as
deferred revenues until earned. Other revenues, including charges for services and
miscellaneous revenues, are recorded as revenue when received in cash because they
generally are not measurable until actually received.

Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred {upon receipt of goods or
services), except for claims and judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized
as expenditures to the extent they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are
reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

The Town reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund — This fund is used to account for the general operating activities of the Town.
General government, public safety, public works, and licensing and inspections are financed
through this fund with receipts from general property taxes, transfer taxes, licenses and permits,
investment interest, fines, charges for current services, intergovernmental and other revenue.
impact Fees Fund — This fund is used to account for impact fees until they are transferred to
the appropriate fund for specific, eligible projects.
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NOTE 1

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES {cont'd)

Nonmajor Governmental Funds — In addition to the aforementioned major governmental
funds, the Town includes the Municipal Street Aid, S.AL.L.E., E.l.D.E., and seized assetillegal
drug enforcement funds in its financial statements.

Proprietary funds are accounted for using the accrual basis of accounting. These funds account
for operations that are financed primarily by user charges. The economic resource focus
concerns determining costs as a means of maintaining the capital investment and management
control. Revenues are recognized when they are earned and expenses are recognized when
they are incurred.

These funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering
goods or services in connection with the proprietary funds’ principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the Town's proprietary funds are electric and water/sewer
charges. Operating expenses for the Town's proprietary funds include salaries, employee
benefits, production costs, supplies and administrative costs. All revenues or expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The Town reports the following major proprietary funds:
Electric Fund — Used to account for the operation of an electric distribution system.

Water And Sewer Fund — Used to account for the operation of a water supply and sewage
collection system.

Cash And Cash Equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the proprietary funds consider all highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash
equivalents.

Allowance For Doubtful Accounts

The Town of Clayton’s water, sewer and electric utiliies experience very small losses from
uncollectible accounts. Water and sewer fees constitute a lien against real property and usually
can be coliected in full when title transfers. Only balances that remain after tax sales are written
off each year. Electric fees do not constitute a lien; however, maintenance of adequate
customer deposits, monthly billing and diligent collection procedures minimize losses from
uncollectible accounts. Accordingly, an allowance for doubtful accounts has not been
established by the Town for its proprietary funds.

inventories And Prepaid Expenses

Inventories of business-type activities and proprietary fund types are presented at the lower of
cost or market on a first-in, first-out basis, and are expensed when used. Certain payments to
vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid
expenses.
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NOTE 1

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont’'d)

Capital Assets

Capital assets, including property, plant and equipment, are reported in the applicable
governmental or business-type activities columns in the entity-wide financial statements. During
the year ended December 31, 2007, the Town adopted a capitalization threshold of $5,000 with
an estimated life in excess of one year. Capital assets placed in service prior to January 1,
2007, with a cost of less than $5,000 will continue to be depreciated until the asset is fully
depreciated or disposed. Capital assets may be purchased or constructed and are recorded at
cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated fair value at the date of donation. The
costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially
extend the asset’s life are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements
are capitalized as projects are constructed, inclusive on ancillary costs.

GASB Statement No. 34 permits Phase ill local governments to elect not to reportinfrastructure
retroactively and report general infrastructure prospectively only. Management has assessed
the impact of infrastructure capitalizafion on the financial statements and has determined that

“the cost outweighs the benefit of reporting the Town's infrastructure refroactively.

Capital assets of the Town are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets as follows:

Buildings and improvements 7-40 years
Vehicles 5-10 years
Land improvements 20 years
Machinery and equipment 7-10 years
Infrastructure 5-50 years

Compensated Absences

Regular, full-time employees are allowed sick leave on the basis of 10 days per year. Each
January, employees have the option to continue accruing sick leave or be paid for unused sick
leave from the previous year. Upon termination or retirement, an employee shall be paid a
maximum of 45 days of accrued unused sick leave.

Regular, fuil-time employees accrue vacation leave on the basis of two weeks per year after
completion of one year of continuous service. After three years of continuous service, two
weeks vacation will be accrued. After six years of continuous service, three weeks vacation will
be accrued. After 14 years of continuous service, four weeks vacation will be accrued. If an
employee resigns or is terminated for any reason including dismissal or dies with unused annual
leave credit, the employee, or in the case of his/her death, hisfher estate, shall be paid for
unused vacation time. Employees leaving the Town’s employment on or before the 15" of a
month will not receive credit for that month. Those employees departing the Town's
employment after the 15% of a month will receive full credit for that month.

Accumulated vacation and sick leave is accrued when incurred in the entity-wide financial
statements and proprietary fund types. A liability is reported in the governmental funds only if it
is expendable from available financial resources. Historically, the General Fund has been
responsible for liquidation of compensated absences associated with governmental fund
activiies. Compensated absences associated with proprietary funds are liquidated from the
fund in which the liability was generated.
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NOTE 1

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Fund Equity

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report reservations of fund balance for
amounts that are not available for appropriation or are legally restricted by outside parties for use
for a specific purpose. The proprietary funds report the same three components of net position
as do the entity-wide financial statements. When both restricted and unrestricted resources are
available for use, it is the Town’s policy to use restricted resources first and then unrestricted
resources as they are needed.

The Town follows the provisions of GASB Statement No. 54 “Fund Balance Reporting and
Governmental Fund Type Definitions,” which addresses a change in the classification of fund
balance. The objective of this statement is to enhance the usefulness of fund balance
information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that can be more consistently
applied and by clarifying the existing govemmental fund type definitions. This statement
establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy based primarily on the extent
to which a government is bound to observe constraints imposed upon the resources reported in
governmental funds.

Fund balance will be displayed in the following classification depicting the relative strength of the
spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can be used:

» Nonspendable fund balance — amounts that are notin a spendable form (such as inventory)
or are required to be maintained intact (such as the corpus of an endowment fund).

e Restricted fund balance — amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such
as grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional
provisions or by enabling legislation.

o Committed fund balance — amounts constrained to specific purposes by a government itself,
using its highest level of decision-making authority; to be reported as committed, amounts
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the government takes the same highest-level
action to remove or change the constraint.

» Assigned fund balance — amounts a government infends to use for a specific purpose; intent
can be expressed by the governing body or by an official or body to which the governing
body delegates the authority.

« Unassigned fund balance — amounts that are available for any purpose; these amounts are
reported only in the general fund.

Property Taxes

Property taxes attach as an enforceable fien on property when levied. All liens continue until
property taxes are paid in full. Taxes are levied on July 1 and are payable on or before
September 30. Taxes paid after the payable date are assessed interest at one percent per
month after the due date. The Town bills and collects its own property taxas. Town property tax
revenues are recognized on a pro rata basis. Delinquent taxes are considered fully collectible;
therefore, no allowance for uncollectible taxes is provided. The property tax rate for 2016 was
0.75 cents per $100 of assessed value.
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NOTE 1

NOTE 2

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Use Of Estimates In The Preparation Of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain reported
amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Comparative Data

Comparative totals for the prior year have been presented in the accompanying financial
statements in order to provide an understanding of changes in the Town’s financial position and
operations. However, presentation of prior year totals by fund and activity type have not been
presented in each of the statements since their inclusion would make the statements unduly
complex and difficult to read. Summarized comparative information should be read in
conjunction with the Town’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2015, from
which the summarized information was derived.

Restricted Assets

Certain assets are classified as restricted at the entity-wide level because they are maintained in
separate bank accounts and their use is limited.

STEWARDSHIP. COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Budgetary Information

The Town follows these procedures in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial
statements:

a. Formal budgetary integration is employed as a management controf device during the year
for the General Fund. This budget is adopted on a basis consistent with generally accepted
accounting principles.

b. The Town Council adopts legal annual budgets for the General Fund and Proprietary Funds.
The Town Council also adopts legal project length budgets for its Impact Fees Fund and
certain nonmajor governmental funds. Since project periods may differ from the Town’s
fiscal year, a comparison of budgetary information for the combined Impact Fees Fund and
certain nonmajor governmental funds would not be meaningful and has not been presented
in the accompanying financial statements.

c. Management is authorized to transfer budget amounts between departments within any
fund; however, any revisions that alter the total appropriations of any fund must be approved
by the Town Council. Therefore, the level of budgetary responsibility is by total
appropriations; however, for report purposes, this level has been expanded to a functional
basis.

d. Unused appropriations for all of the above annually budgeted funds lapse at year end.

e. For 2016 there were no revisions to any legally adopted budgets.
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NOTE 2

NOTE 3

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY (cont'd)

Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations

For the year ended December 31, 2018, the General Fund incurred expenditures in excess of
appropriations in the following functions:

General government $36,146
Public safety $35,337
Licensing and inspection $ 3,594

All excess of expenditures over appropriations were funded by higher than anticipated revenues,
transfers from other funds and the use of existing fund balances.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS

The Town of Clayton as a depositor and an investor generally requires full and continuous
collateralization based upon fair value in the form of:

s Obligations of or guaranteed by the United States of America, or

e Obligations of the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Federal Home Mortgage
Corporation, Public Housing Authority or an agency or instrumentality of the United States of
America, or

s General or revenue obligations of the State of Delaware or its municipalities, subdivisions,
public housing authorities or any agency or instrumentality of the State of Delaware.

As an investor, the Town of Clayton may invest in any of the above cited instruments and/or
certificates of deposit or repurchase agreements fully collateralized by one or more of the above-
cited instruments.

The Town maintains a cash and investment pool that is available for use by all funds. This pool
is displayed on the balance sheet and the statement of net position as cash and cash
equivalents. Deposits and investments of governmental and proprietary funds are reported at fair
value.

Deposits

Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government’s deposits may
not be returned. The Town does not have a policy regarding custodial credit risk for deposits.
At December 31, 20186, the carrying amount of the Town’s deposits was $4,145,881 and the
bank balance was $4,163,010. Of the bank balance, $250,000 was covered by federal
depository insurance, and $3,913,010 was uninsured and collateralized with securities held by
the pledging financial institution’s trust department, but not in the Town’s name.
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NOTE 3

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS (cont'd)

Investments

As of December 31, 2016, the Town had the following investments:

U.S. Treasury bills $ 5,853
Exchange traded funds 54,147
Mutual funds 71,667

$131.667

U_S. Treasury bills are securiies of agencies of the U.S. Government that have an implied but
not explicit guarantee. Investments in external investment pools, such as those in mutual funds
and exchange traded funds, are disclosed but not subject to interest rate, custodial, credit, or
concentration risks because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book
entry form.

The Town’s investments are stated at fair value in the balance sheet at December 31, 2016 and
2015.

Quoted Prices in Quoted Prices in

Active Markets for December 31, Active Markets for December 31,

Identical Assets or 2016 Identical Assets or 2015

Liabilities {Level 1) Total Liahilities {(Level 1) Total

Investments:
U.S. Treasury bills $ 5,853 $ 5,853 $ 5,196 $ 5,196
Exchange traded funds 54,147 54,147 49,788 49,788
Mutual funds 71,667 71,667 65,368 65,368
Total Assets At Fair

Value $ 131,667 $ 131,667 $ 120,352 $ 120,352

The fair value measurement accounting fiterature establishes a fair value hierarchy that
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. This hierarchy consists
of three broad levels defined below:

Level 1: Inputs consist of unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and
have the highest priority. Since valuations are based on quoted prices that are readily and
regularly available in an active market, valuation of these securities does not entail a significant
degree of judgment.

Level 2: Inputs consist of quoted prices in markets that are not active or for which all significant
inputs are cbservable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: !npUts are unobservable and have the lowest priority.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2016, the Town’s investments in U.S. Treasury bills had maturity dates of less
than one vear.

Custodial Credit Risk

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the Town will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
security that are in the possession of an outside party. The Town has no investments subject to
custodial credit risk.
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TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 4 CAPITAL ASSETS

The capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2016, was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance® Increase Decrease Balance

Gavernmental Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 433916 $ 0- 8 -0- $ 433916
Total Capital Assets Not Being

Depreciated 433,916 -0- - 433,916
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and infrastructure 561,199 118,261 -0- 679,460
Improvements 308,409 -0- -0- 308,409
Vehicles 656,303 -0- -0- 656,303
Machinery and equipment 376,213 14,242 -0- 390,455
Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated 1,902,124 132,503 -0- 2,034,627
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and infrastructure 146,581 14,780 -0- 161,361
Improvements . 83,458 13,565 -0- 97,023
Vehicles 471,895 60,553 -0- 532,448
Machinery and equipment 254,739 23,327 -0- 278,066
Total Accumulated Depreciation 956,673 112,225 -0- 1,068,898
Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated, Net 945,451 20,278 -0- 965,729
Govémmental Activities Assets, Net $ 1,379367 § 20278 3% -0- $ 1,399,645
Business-Type Activities:
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and infrastructure $ 4,654,511 $ 91,113 § -0- $ 4745624
Vehicles 173,730 44,188 -0- 217,918
Machinery and equipment 133,879 23,409 -0- 157,288
Total Capital Assets Being

Depreciated 4,962,120 158,710 =0 5,120,830
Accumulated depreciation:
Buildings and improvements 1,885,808 117,145 -0- 2,002,953
Vehicles 173,730 3,682 -0- 177,412
Machinery and equipment 84,657 15,392 -0- 100,049
Total Accumulated Depreciation 2,144,195 136,219 -0- 2,280,414
Business-Type Activities Assets, Net § 2,817,925 § 22491 % -0- $ 2840416

* Restated for comparative purposes.
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NOTE 4

NOTE 5

NOTE 6

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CAPITAL ASSETS (cont'd)

Depreciation expense was charged to the functions as follows:

Governmental Activities:

General government $ 32,962

Public safety 46,671

Public works 32,592
Total Depreciation Expense - Governmental Activities $ 112,225
Business-Type Activities:

Electric $ 54,191

Water 82,028
Total Depreciation Expense — Business-Type Activities $ 136,219
CHANGES IN COMPENSATED ABSENCES

Beginning Ending
Balance* Increase Decrease Balance

Governmental Activities:
Accumulated compensated absences $§ 110,159 $ 15,123 % 4,170 $ 121,112
Business-Type Activities:
Accumulated compensated absences

Electric $ 13,039 $ 691 $ 643 $ 13,087

Sewer 28,246 1,382 1,285 28,343

3 41,285 $ 2,073 $ 1,928 $ 41,430

* Restated for comparative purposes.
INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS
The composition of interfund balances as of December 31, 2016, is as follows:
Due To Amount Due From Amount
Impact Fees Fund $ 328,106 General Fund $ 328,106
Electric Fund 6,705 General Fund 6,705
General Fund 400 E.I.LD.E. Fund 400
General Fund Capital Reserve 5,156 S.ALLE. Fund 5,156
Total $ 340,367 $ 340,367

Interfund balances between funds represent femporary lcans recorded at year end subsequent
to a final allocation of expenses. The balances generally are paid shortly after year end.
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NOTE 6

NOTE 7

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS (cont'd)

The compasition of interfund transfers for the year ended December 31, 2016, was as follows:

Transfer In Transfer Out
General Fund $ 1,061,951 $ -0-
Electric Fund -0- 973,396
Water and Sewer Fund (- 88,555
Total $ 1,061,951 $ 1,061,951

Transfers from the electric fund and water and sewer funds to the impact fees fund and general
fund were to subsidize those funds’ operating activities.

LONG-TERM DEBT

A change in the long-term debt is as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Increase Decrease Balance
Governmental Acfivities:
Loan payable — Ally Bank $ 15218 % 0- $ 15218 $ -0-
Loan payable — Software 39,645 -0- 10,822 19,823
$ 54,863 % -0- $ 35,040 $ 19,823

The loan payable between Ally Bank and the Town of Clayton Police Department s for two 2014
police vehicles. The loan was entered into on February 14, 2014, and bears interest at 6.84
percent payable in May in the amount of $16,258. The loan matured in May 2016.

The loan payable between a software provider and the Town of Clayton is for a new computer
and accounting system. This loan bears interest at 0.00%, payable in March of each year and
will be paid in full in March 2017.

The maturity of debt obligation, including interest, is as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Principal Interest Total
2017 $ 19823 § -0- $ 19,823
$ 19,823 § -0- $ 18,823
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NOTE 7

NOTE 8

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LONG-TERM DEBT (cont'd)

A schedule of changes in the long-term debt is as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Decreases Balance
Business-Type Acfivities:
Loan payable 3 603,056 % 39,246 $ 563,810

The loan payable is issued by the Delaware Department of Natural Resources and
Environmental Control and administered by the Delaware Department of Health and Social
Services to finance the arsenic removal project. The revolving loan converted to permanent
financing on August 1, 2008, and bears interest at 2.72 percent payable on February 1 and
August 1. The loan matures on August 1, 2028.

Maturities of debt obligations, including interest, are as follows:

Year Ended December 31, Principal Interest Total
2017 $ 40,321 % 15063 & 55,384
2018 41,425 13,959 55,384
2019 42,560 12,824 55,384
2020 43,725 11,659 55,384
2021 44,923 10,461 55,384
2022-2026 243,754 33,166 276,920
2027-2028 107,102 3,666 110,768

$ 563,810 $ 100,798 % 664,608

PENSIONS

Delaware County and Municipal Police/Firefighter Pension Plan

Delaware County And Municipal Police/Firefighter Pension Plan

The Town’s pension plan is part of the County & Municipal Police and Firefighters’ Pension Plan
(the Plan) which is a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established in
the Delaware Code. The State of Delaware General Assembly is responsible for setting benefits
and contributions and amending the Plan’s provisions; administrative rules and regulations are
adopted and maintained by the Board of Pension Trustees (the Board). The management of the
Plan is the responsibility of the Board, which is comprised of five members appointed by the
Governor and confirmed by the State Senate, plus two exofficio members. The daily operation
is the responsibility of the Delaware Office of Pensions. Although most of the assets of the Plan
are commingled with other plans for investment purposes, the Plan’s assets may be used only
for the payment of benefits to the membars of the Plan in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
The following is a brief description of the Plan in effect at December 31, 2016. For a more
complete description, refer to the Delaware Public Employee's Retirement System (DPERS)
CAFR.

Separately issued financial statements for DPERS are availabie from the Delaware Office of
Pensions at. McArdel Building, Suite 1; 860 Silver Lake Boulevard; Dover, DE 12904,
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NOTE 8

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PENSIONS (cont'd)

Delaware County and Municipal Police/Firefighter Pension Plan (cont'd)

General Information About The Plan

Plan Description and Eligibility: The County & Municipal Police and Firefighters’ Pension Plan
covers police officers and firefighters employed by a county or municipality of the State that have
joined the Plan.

Service Benefits: 2.5% of final average monthly compensation muitiplied by years of credited
service up to 20 years, plus 3.5% of final average monthly compensation multiplied by years of
service in excess of 20 years. For the Plan, final average monthly compensation is the monthly
average of the highest three periods of consecutive years of compensation.

Vesting: 5 years of credited service.

Retirement: Age 62 with 5 years of service; age plus credited service (but not less than 10
years) equals 75; or 20 years of credited service.

Disability Benefits: Based on the following categories:

Duty — Total Disability — 75% of final average compensation plus 10% for each dependent
not to exceed 25% for all dependents.

Duty — Partial Disability — Calculated the same as Service Benefits subject to minimum
50% of final average compensation.

NonDuty — Same as Service Benefits, total disability subject to a minimum 50% of final average
monthly compensation plus 5% of each dependent not to exceed 20% for all dependents.
Partial disability to a minimum of 30% of final average monthly compensation.

Survivor Benefits: If employee is receiving a pension, then eligible survivor receives 50% of
pension; if employee is active, eligible survivor receives 50% of pension the employee would
have received at 62. If the memberis killed in the line of duty, the sligible survivor receives 75%
of the member’s compensation.

Contributions:

e Employer: Determined by the Board. Employer contributions were 13.9% and 14.2% of
earnings for fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively.

e Member: 7% of compensation.

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Ouiflows Of Resources, And Deferred Inflows Of
Resources Related To Pensions

At December 31, 2016, the Town reported a pension liability {asset) of ($104,207) for its
proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset). The net pension liability (asset) was
measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension liability (asset) used to calculate the net
pension liability (asset) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The Town’s
proportion of the net pension liability (asset) was based on a projection of the Town’s long-term
share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the total projected contributions of the State
that have joined, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2016, the Town’s proportion was
0.6556 percent, which was an increase of 0.0014 percent from its proportion measured as of
June 30, 2015.
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NOTE 8

" TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PENSIONS (cont'd)
Delaware County and Municipal Police/Firefighter Pension Plan {cont'd)

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Quiflows Of Resources, And Deferred Inflows Of

Resocurces Related To Pensions (cont'd)

As a result of its requirement to contribute to DPERS, the Town recognized pension expense of
$121,355 for the year ended December 31, 2016. At December 31, 2016, the Town reported
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources from the following sources as a
result of its requirement to contribute to DPERS:

Deferred Resources

Description Outfiows Inflows

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 17,792 $ 17,747
Changes of assumptions -0- 27,396
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan investments 107,774 -0-
Contributions subsequent to measurement date 37,049 -0-
Change in proportion and differences between Town

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 37 1,307
Totals $ 162,652 $ 46,450

The $37,049 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to the pension resulting from
Town contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction
(increase) of the net pension liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2016. Other
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
the pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

2017 $ 12,816
2018 12,818
2019 41,100
2020 28,312
2021 (3,182)
Thereafter {12,711)
$ 79,153

Actuarial Assumptions: The total pension fiability (asset) in the June 30, 2016, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all pericds
included in the measurement:

Description Percentages
inflation 2.5%
Projected salary increases 2.5% + merit, including inflation
investment rate of return 7.2%, net of pension plan investment expense,

including inflation rate of 2.5%
Cost-of-living adjustments 0.0%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 tables with gender adjustments for healthy
annuitants and disabled retirees and an adjusted version on MP-2015 mortality improvement
scale on a fully generational basis.
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PENSIONS (cont'd)

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Qutflows Of Resources. And Deferred Inflows Of
Resources Related To Pensions {cont'd)

Projected benefit payments do not inciude the effects of projected ad hoc cost-of-living
adjustments (ad hoc COLAs) as they are not substantively automatic. The primary
considerations relevant to making this determination include the historical pattern of granting the
changes and the consistency in the amounts of the changes.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
(expected returns, net of investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of retum by weighing
the expected future real rates of return by an asset allocation percentage, which is based on the
nature and mix of current and expected Plan investments, and by adding expected inflation.
Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the
System's current and expected asset allocation is summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected Asset

Asset Class Real Rate Of Return Allocation
Domestic equity 57% 34.0%
International equity 57% 14.7%
Fixed income 2.0% 25.0%
Alternative investments 7.8% 20.9%
Cash and equivalents 0.0% 54%

Discount Rate: The discount rate for the Plan used to measure the total pension liability was
7.2%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that
contributions from plan members will be made at the current contribution rates and that
contributions from employers will be made at rates determined by the Board of Pension
Trustees, actuarially determined. Based on those assumpticns, the pension plan's fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investmeénts
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.

Sensitivity Of The Town’s Proportionate Share Of The Net Pension Liability (Asset) To
Changes In The Discount Rate: The following presents the Town's proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset) calculated using the discount rate of 7.2%, as well as what the
Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability {(assat) would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current
rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
Plan {6.2%}) Rate (7.2%) (8.2%)
Municipal Police of Clayton $ 415 $ 104,212 § (148,729)
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PENSIONS (cont'd)

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Qutflows Of Resources, And Deferred Inflows Of

Resources Related To Pensions (cont’d)

State Employees’ Pension Plan

The Town’s pension plan is part of the County & Municipal Other Employees’ Pension Plan (the
Plan) which is a cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan established in the
Delaware Code. The State of Delaware General Assembly is responsible for setting benefits
and confributions and amending the Plan’s provisions; administrative rules and regulations are
adopted and maintained by the Board of Pension Trustees (the Board). The management of the
Plan is the responsibility of the Board, which is comprised of five members appointed by the
Governer and confirmed by the State Senate, plus two exofficio members. The daily operation
is the responsibility of the Delaware Office of Pensions. Although most of the assets of the Plan
are commingled with other plans for investment purposes, the Plan’s assets may be used only
for the payment of benefits to the members of the Plan in accordance with the terms of the Plan.
The following is a brief description of the Plan in effect at December 31, 2016. For a more
complete description, refer to the Delaware Public Employee’s Retirement System (DPERS)
CAFR.

Separately issued financial statements for DPERS are available from the Delaware Office of
Pensions at: McArdel Building, Suite 1; 860 Silver Lake Boulevard; Dover, DE 18804.

General Information About The Plan

Plan Description and Eligibility: The County & Municipal Other Employees’ Pension Plan
covers employees of counties or municipalities that have joined the Plan.

Service Benefits: 1/60t" of final average monthly compensation multiplied by years of credited
service, subject to maximum limitations. For this plan, final average monthly compensation is
the monthly average of the highest five years of compensation.

Vesting: 5 years of credited service.

Retirement: Age 62 with 5 years of service; age 60 with 15 years of credited service; or after
30 years of credited service.

Disability Benefits: Same as Service Benefits. The employee must have 5 years of credited
service.

Survivor Benefits: |f employee is receiving a pension, then eligible survivor receives 50% of
pension; if employee is active, eligible survivor receives 50% of pension the employee would
have received at 62.

Contributions:

e Employer: Determined by the Board. Employer contributions were 6.2% and 6.5% of
earnings for fiscal years 2016 and 2015, respectively.

s Member: 3% of earnings in excess of $6,000.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PENSIONS (contd)

Pension Liabilities. Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows Of Resources, And Deferred Inflows Of

Resources Related To Pensions (cont'd)
General Information About The Plan (cont'd)

At December 31, 2016, the Town reported a pension liability (asset) of $86,822 for its
proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset). The net pension liability (asset) was
measured as of June 30, 2016, and the total pension liability (assef) used to calculate the net
pension liability (asset) was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The Town’s
proportion of the net pension liability (asset) was based on a projection of the Town'’s long-term
share of contributions to the pension plan relative to the total projected contributions of
participating counties or municipalities, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2016, the Town’s
proportion was 1.4013 percent, which was a decrease of 0.1415 percent from its proportion
measured as of June 30, 2015.

As aresult of its requirement to contribute to DPERS, the Town recognized pension expense of
$82,690 for the year ended December 31, 2016. At December 31, 2016, the Town reported
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources from the following sources as a
result of its requirement to contribute to DPERS:

Deferred Resources

Description Outflows Inflows

Difference between expected and actual experience $ 23,579 $ 7,343
Changes of assumptions 12,685 -0-
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan investments 32,474 -0-
Contributions subsequent to measurement date 16,540 -0-
Change in proportion and differences between Town

contributions and proportionate share of contributions -0- 5,856
Totals $ 85,278 $ 13,199

The $16,540 reported as deferred outflows of resources related to the pension resulting from
Town contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction
(increase) of the net pension liability (asset) in the year ended December 31, 2017. Other
amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to
the pension will be recognized in pension expense as follows:

2017 $ 6,869
2018 6,870
2019 16,092
2020 11,755
2021 2,278
Thereafter 11,675
$ 55539
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NOTE 8

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PENSIONS (cont'd)

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows Of Resources. And Deferred Inflows Of
Resources Related To Pensions {conf'd)

Actuarial Assumptions: The total pension liability {asset) in the June 30, 2015, actuarial
valuation was determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods
included in the measurement:

Description Percentages
Inflation 2.5%
Projected salary increases 2.5% + merit, including inflation
Investment rate of return 7.2%, net of pension plan investment expense,
including inflation rate of 2.5%
Cost-of-living adjustments 0.0%

Mortality rates were based on the RP-2014 tables with gender adjustments for healthy
annuitanis and disabled retirees and an adjusted version on MP-2015 mortality improvement
scale on a fully generaticnal basis.

Projected benefit payments do not include the effects of projected ad hoc cost-of-living
adjustments {(ad hoc COLAs) as they are not substantively automatic. The primary
considerations relevant to making this determination include the historical pattern of granting the
changes and the consisiency in the amounts of the changes.

The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a
building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return
{expected returns, net of investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset
class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of retum by weighing
the expected future real rates of return by an asset allocation percentage, which is based on the
nature and mix of current and expected Plan investments, and by adding expected inflation.
Best estimates of geometric real rates of return for each major asset class included in the
Systern’s current and expected asset allocation is summarized in the following table:

Long-Term Expected Asset

Asset Class Real Rate Of Return Allocation
Domestic equity 57% 34.0%
International equity 5.7% 14.7%
Fixed income 2.0% 25.0%
Alternative investments 7.8% 20.9%
Cash and equivalents 0.0% 5.4%

Discount Rate: The discount rate for the Plan used to measure the total pension liability was
7.2%. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that
contributions from plan members will be made at the current confribution rates and that
contributions from employers will be made at rates determined by the Board of Pension
Trustees, actuarially determined. Based on those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net
position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current
plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments
was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
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NOTE 8

NOTE 9

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PENSIONS (cont'd)

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, Deferred Qutflows Of Resources. And Deferred Inflows Of

Resources Related To Pensions (cont'd)

Sensitivity Of The Town's Proportionate Share Of The Net Pension Liability (Asset) To
Changes In The Discount Rate: The following presents the Town’s proportionate share of the
net pension liability (asset) calculated using the discount rate of 7.20%, as well as what the
Town’s proportionate share of the net pension liability (asset) would be if it were calculated using
a discount rate that is ‘1-percentage-point lower or 1-percentage-point higher than the current
rate:

Current
1% Decrease Discount 1% Increase
Plan {6.20%) Rate (7.20%) (8.20%)
County & Municipal Other
Employees of Clayton $ 184,831 $ 86,822 $ 6,124

POST-EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Plan Description

The Town has implemented Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 43,
“Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-Employment Benefits Other Than
Pensions,” for certain post-employment healthcare benefits and life insurance benefits provided
by the Town. This statement generally provides for prospective implementation — i.e., that
employers set the beginning net OPEB obligation at zero as of the beginning of the initial year.
Accordingly, for financial reporting purposes, no liability is reported for the post-employment
benefits liability at the date of transition.

The Town’s post-employment healthcare plan is a single-employer defined benefit healthcare
plan. The plan provides medical, dental, and pharmacy benefits to eligible retirees. The Mayor
and Council have the authority to establish and amend benefit provisions through the collective
bargaining process with members of the professional and support staff, an agreement with
administrative employees and individual employment contracts with certain employees. The
plan does notissue any financial report and is not included in the report of any public employee
retirement system or any other entity.

Participant data consisted of the following at January 1, 2014, the date of the latest actuarial
valuation.

Participants
Active 17
Retired 1
Total 18

Funding Policy

The contribution requirements of plan members are established and may be amended by the
Town Council. The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing
requirements, with any additional amount to prefund as determined annually by the Town
Council. For December 31 2016, the Town contributed $20,000 to the plan for current and
future premiums.
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NOTE 9

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POST-EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS (cont'd)
Funding Policy (cont'd)

Post-employment retirement benefits paid for the year ended December 31, 2016, totaled
$2,815, or approximately 85 percent of total premiums. Plan members receiving benefits
contributed $497, or approximately 15 percent of total premiums, through their required monthly
contributions. The Annual OPEB Cost (AOC) of $106,457 for the year ended December 31,
2016, represents the amount expensed under GASB 45.

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation — Town

The Town's annual other post-employment benefit cost (expense} is calculated based on the
annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in
accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of
funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and
amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 20
years. The following table shows the components of the Town’s OPEB cost for the year, the
amount actually contributed to the plan and changes in the Town's net OPEB obligation to the
plan.

Public Public Totals
Town Safety Works 2016 2015

Annual required contribution $ 9,593 $ 75813 $ 26,302 $ 111,708 $ 115,723
Interest on net OPEB obligation 558 11,116 4201 15,875 21,215
Adjustment to annual required

contribution (743} (14,793} (5,590) (21,126) {28,230)
Annual OPEB cost (expense) 9,408 72,136 24,913 106,457 108,708
Contributions made (1,768) (13,552} {4,680) (20,000) {221,102}
Expense Difference 7,640 58,684 20,233 86,457 (112,394}
Net OPEB obligation — beginning

of year 11,750 234,024 88,440 334,214 446,608

Net OPEB obligation —end of year $ 19,390 $ 292,608 $ 108,673 $ 420,671 $ 334,214

The Town’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annuai OPEB cost contributed to the plan,
and the net obligation for 2016 were as follows:

Calendar Pecentage
Year Annual OPEB Of Annual OPEB Cost Net OPEB
Ended Cost Contributed Obligation
2014 $ 153,260 1.6 % $ 446,608
2015 $ 108,708 203.4 % $ 334,214
2016 $ 106,457 18.8 % $ 420,671

Funded Status and Funding Progress

As of January 1, 2015, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 0.0 percent
funded. The actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $727,403, and the actuarial value of
assets was $-0-, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (UAAL) of $727,403.
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TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 9 POST-EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS {cont'd}

thded Status and Funding Progress {con't)

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include
assumptions about the future employment, mortality, and healthcare cost trends. Amounts
determined regarding the funded status of the plan and the annual required contributions of the
employer are subject to continual revision as actual results are comparead with past expectations
and new estimates are made about the future. The schedule of funding progress, as presented
below, presents multiyear trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is
increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities benefits:

Actuarial Unfunded
Accrued Unfunded AAL As A

Actuarial Plan Liahility Accrued Funded Percentage
Valuation Date Assets {AAL) Liability Ratio Payroll Of Payroll
January 1, 2011 -0- 537,900 537,900 0.0% 709,000 75.9%
January 1, 2014 -0- 880,299 880,299 0.0% N/A N/A
January 1, 2015 -0- 727,403 727,403 0.0% N/A N/A,

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information following
the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about whether the
actuarial value of plan assets is increasing cr decreasing relative to the actuarial accrued liability
for benefits.

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the
plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of henefils
provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs
between the employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions
used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in
actuarial liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of
the calculations.

in the January 1, 2015, actuarial valuation, the Projected Unit Credit Cost Method was used.
The actuarial assumptions included a 3.5 percent per annum, discount rate compounded
annually, and an annual healthcare cost trend rate of 5.9 percent in 2016, reduced by
decrements to an ultimate rate of 5.5 percent in 2063 and later. As of February 4, 20186, the
UAAL is being amortized based on a level dollar, 30-year closed period. The remaining
amortization period at December 31, 20186, was 29 years.

NOTE 10 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Government Grants and Awards

The Town participates in state and county assisted grant programs. These programs are
subject to program compliance audits by the grantors or their representatives. The Town is
potentially liable for any expenditures which may be disallowed pursuant to the terms of these
grant pregrams. Management is not aware of any material items of noncompliance which would
result in the disallowance of program expenditures.
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NOTE 10

NOTE 11

NOTE 12

TOWN OF CLAYTON

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (cont'd)

Delaware Municipal Electric Corporation

The Town is a member of the Delaware Municipal Electric Corporation ("DEMEC"). DEMEC is a
public corporation constituted as a joint action agency and a wholesale electric utility. DEMEC
was established in 1979 and represents nine municipal electric disfribution utilities located in the
State of Delaware. DEMEC provides full requirements wholesale electric power supply service
to seven of tha nine members, including the Town, through the operation of owned generation
assets and various contractual wholesale supply contracts with external parties.

Participating members purchase 100 percent of their electric supply requirements from DEMEC
under a long-term full requirements service contracts that became effective January 1, 2004,
and which will remain in effect unless terminated upon one year’s written notice by either party.
The obligation of the participating members to purchase and pay for full requirements service,
including its allocated costs under any then current forward coniract for capacity and energy
between DEMEC and a third party in effect as of the date of notice of termination, shall survive
the termination of this agreement.

Participating members have entered into a separate power sales agreement effective May 1,
2001, to purchase an interest in the capacity produced by Unit No. 1 of the Warren F. “Sam”
Beasley Power Station located in Smyma, Delaware, owned by DEMEC. The Town is entitled to
a percentage of all power supply and ancillary products generated from the existing nominal 45
MW natural gas fired combustion turbine generator for the useful life of the facility.

Participating members have entered into separate power sales agreements effective May 1,
2011, to purchase an interest in the capacity produced by Unit #2 of the Warren F. “Sam”
Beasley Power Station located in Smyrna, Delaware, owned by DEMEC. Unit #2 went into
commercial operation June 1, 2012. Participating members are entitled to their contractual share
of all power supply and ancillary products generated from the Unit #2 nominal 50 MW natural
gas fired combustion turbine generator for the useful life of the facility.

Under the terms of the various agreements, DEMEC is authorized to act as agent for the Town
in all matters relating to the acquisition and delivery of its wholesale power supply and
management of energy cost risk on behalf of the Town in the deregulated energy markets.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town maintains commercial insurance coverage for risk of losses relating to general,
automotive, police professional, public officials and crime. There have been no significant
changes in coverage, and there have been no losses above insurance limits during the past
year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Town has evaluated all subsequent events through July 24, 2017, the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.
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TOWN OF CLAYTON

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE — GENERAL FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

REVENUES
Taxes:
Property taxes
Transfer taxes
Public safety taxes
Charges for services
Intergovernmental
Licenses and fees
Fines and forfeils
Franchise fees
Investment income
Miscelianeous
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Current;
General government
Public safety
Public works
Licensing and inspection
Debt service:
Principal
Inerest
Capital outlay
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Proceeds from sale of capital assets
Transfers in

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR

Original Actual
and Final Amounts Variance
Appropriated {Budgetary Positive
Budget Basis) (Negative)
$ 388,855 $ 403,502 $ 14,647
125,000 260,626 135,626
20,970 21,380 410
334,550 389,073 54,523
193,800 354,582 160,782
5,800 8,643 2,843
92,000 64,110 (27,890)
44,940 50,160 5,220
-0- 11,326 11,326
1,000 771 {229)
1,206,915 1,564,173 357,258
498,473 534,619 (36,146)
957,199 992 536 (35,337)
432,477 412,448 20,029
35,300 38,594 (3,594)
35,041 35,040 1
129 129 -0-
190,212 132,503 57,709
2,148,831 2,146,169 2,662
{941,916) (581,996) 359,920
2,000 -0- {2,000)
939,916 1,061,951 122,035
941,916 1,061,951 120,035
-0- 479,955 479,955
286,014 286,014 -0-
$ 286,014 $ 765,969 $ 479,955
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COMBINING NONMAJOR FUND STATEMENTS



TOWN OF CLAYTON
COMBINING BALANCE SHEET — NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

Municipal
Street Aid S.ALLE. E.LD.E.
Fund _ Fund Fund ___ Total
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 36,442 $ 5636 % 4459 § 46,537
TOTAL ASSETS 36,442 5,636 4,459 48,537
LIAIBILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
LIABILITIES
Due to other funds -0- 5,156 400 5,656
TOTAL LIABILITIES -0- 5,166 400 5,556
FUND BALANCES
Reserved, designated for:
Police expenditures -0- 480 4,059 4,539
Public works expenditures 36,442 -0~ -0- 36,442
TOTAL FUND BALANCES $ 36,442 $ 480 § 4,059 § 40,981
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TOWN OF CLAYTON

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES — NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2016

REVENUES
Intergovernmental
TOTAL REVENUES

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public safety

Public works
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES

FUND BALANCES, BEGINNING OF
YEAR

FUND BALANCES, END OF YEAR

Municipal
Street Aid S.ALLE. E.L.D.E.
Fund Fund Fund Total

$ 41208 $ 8,918 3,746 53,962
41,298 8,918 3,746 53,962
-0- 8,451 3,600 12,051
23,390 0- -0- 23,390
23,390 8,451 3,600 35,441
17,908 467 146 18,521
18,534 13 3,913 22,460
$ 36442 § 480 4,059 40,981
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Papaleo, Rosen & Chelf, PA. e

AGCCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITCR'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE
AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

July 24, 2017

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Council
Town of Clayton
Clayton, Delaware

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Town of Clayton,
Delaware, as of and for the year ended December 31, 20186, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s basic financial statements, and have issued our
report thereon dated July 24, 2017.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Town of Clayton,
Delaware’s internal control over financial reporting (intermal control) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s

internal control.

A deficiency in infernal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A maferial weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial
staternents will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a fimely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness,
yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with govemnance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or,
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider o be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses ray exist that have not

been identified.
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To the Honorable Mayor and Town Council
Town of Clayton
July 24 2017

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Town of Clayton, Delaware’s financial
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on
compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such
an-opinion. The resulis of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required
to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is sclely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control or
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing

Standards in considering the entity’s internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.
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